
Homicides of Adults in Massachusetts, 1771-1780PRIVATE 

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other Legal records:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1771, Aug. 6




Boston, SUF

CT

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Wilson m. David Murray


Weapon:  with his fist, struck on head, face, & trunk of body, several mortal wounds, inst. 


Circumstances:  found dead on the beach near the Neck, marks of violence on several parts of his body.  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1771 (Suffolk Co.) 


Court proceedings:  John Wilson of Boston (tobacconist) 8/6/1771 at Boston malice aforethought m. David Murray.  with his fist, struck on head, face, & trunk of body, several mortal wounds, inst.  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1771:  235-6.  

Newspaper:

#200 CJNH 8/16/1771:  3:2 dtl Boston, 8/12:  HOM in MA:  last Th afternoon David Murray, shoemaker of Boston, found dead on the beach near the Neck, marks of violence on several parts of his body.  Inquest verdict:  death by violent blows from one Willson, a tobacconist, who had been with him in a boat to the castle & came off with him from thence the evening before.  "was taken up and examined, and telling many contradictory stories relative to the affair he was the next day committed to goal on a strong suspicion of being the means of his untimely End."  BNL 8/15


BNL 9/12/1771 (Th):  SCJ trial, F last, JW fNG.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

John Wilson 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

tobacconist 

Town:


Boston    

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

David Murray

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

shoemaker

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1771, [Oct.]




Wilmington, MID

P

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  3


HOM:  Moses Noyce m. Peter Alexander, Jr.


Weapon:  fall in a wrestling match or brawl


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Newspaper:

BNL 12/5/1771 (Th):  CAS or NAT or HOM MANSL in MA [where?]:  dtl Boston, 12/2:  "We hear from Wilmington, that some Time since," PA & MN "being at Work on the High Way with a number of other Men," they "got a little affronted at each other, they closed in together and took two falls.  Alexander fell upon Noyce first, the second Noyce was upon Alexander; at the same neither of them struck the other nor threatened it:  They both got up and went ot Work, after they had done Work, Alexander complain'd of not being well, went home, grew worse, which was occasion'd by a Breach which he had in his Body for a number of Years, his Pain and Difficulty increasing, he died the third Day after.  After he was Dead, it was reported by some ill-minded Person that Noyce had kill'd Alexander."  Jury summoned, body "carefully viewed, no Marks of Violence could be found on it; and by a number of Witnesses that was present when they took their falls together, dedclare upon Oaths that they heard no threatening Words on either side, nor see any Violence offered; and Alexander told Noyce before his Death, he thought himself as much to blame or more than Noyce, and did not think he had any Design to hurt him in the Scuffle they had together."  Verdict:  natural death.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Moses Noyce 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Wilmington

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Peter Alexander, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Wilmington

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1772, Feb.




WOR

P


NOTE:  vague report, need corroboration

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  unk. person(s) m. unk. man


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled
Source:  
Newspaper:

BNL 3/5/1772 (Th):  dtl Newport, 2/24:  "By a Gentleman from Connecticut, we are informed, that a few Days past as a Drover was returning from Boston to Connecticut, with a considerable Sum of Money about him; Two Men waylay'd and kill'd him; but while they were robbing and burying him a Sled came upon them, in which were several Men who pursued the Murderers and had them confined in Worcester Jail in an Hour after the Murder was Committed."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

drover

Town:


CT

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1772, May 15




Lynn, ESS

P

INQ


NOTE:  the evidence of the shoes points to murder and to the dumping of the body

Class:   possible
Crime:   poss CAS EXPOSURE / prob POSS HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  to prevent her testimony in a neonaticide case

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. person m. Abigail Rhodes


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  found dead in a swamp adjacent to her home


Inquest:  verdict:  came to her death in a manner unknown.  Reason for suspicion:  AR was weak & infirm, but somehow managed to be found in the middle of a dense & nearly impenetrable swamp, with her shoes clean inside and out.


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Suffolk file # 132235, v. 817

Date of inquest: July 22, 1772

Coroner or j.p: John Lewis

Town of inquest: Lynn  Essex County 

Location of inquest:          

“Abigail Rhodes of Lynn...on the fifteenth day of May...1772 came to her Death in a Swamp near the Dwelling House of Henry newman yeoman in Lynn aforesd. by Ways & Means unknown & altogether Uncertain...Abigail Rhodes came to her Death in the sd. unknown & uncertain Form & manner”

Newspaper:

#252 CJNH 8/14/1772:  dtl Salem, 8/4:  POSS HOM / SUSPICIOUS DEATH in MA:  on the Goldthwait neonaticide case, a strange case.  "Soon after the Commitment of Sarah Goldthwait to Prison in May last, on Suspicion of murdering her bastard Child, one Abigail Rhodes, of Linn, a Resident in the same House with her, was missing; on which the Woods, Swamps, &c. were searched by Hundreds of People, in order to find her, but to no Effect.  After about two Months Absence, last Thursday se'nnight, her remains with the Cloathing which she usually wore, were discovered in a Swamp adjacent to where she lived, little remaining but her Bones, her Flesh being mostly consumed.  The Verdict of the Jury of Inquest, summoned on the Occasion, was, That she came by her Death in a Manner unknown.  It is very strongly and generally suspected that this poor Woman was murdered; the Reason for which Suspicion, as we have heard related, are That she is supposed to have been knowing to the Death of the bastard Child abovementioned; and therefore was put out of the Way that she might not appear as an Evidence in that Affair:  That though she was so weak and infirm as to be able to walk but very feebly, she was found in a place almost inaccessible, on Account of Bushes and Mire; and her Shoes, notwithstanding, found to be quite clean, inside as well as out:  besides for other Circumstances which we can't particularly relate.  The Jury, however, though they strictly examined a Number of Persons, could make no Discovery of Violence."  BNL 8/6.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Abigail Rhodes

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

[s]

Children:




Occupation:

weak and infirm [lived in same house as Sarah Goldthwaite, who was jailed on suspicion of murdering her illeg. newborn child]

Town:


Lynn

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1772, May 25




Bowdoinham, LIN

CT

INQ

FILE

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  prob. both

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:   0


HOM:  Solomon Goodwin m. David Willson


Weapon:  Struck with an oar on the left temple & on the eye, 1" deep mortal wound, inst.  


Circumstances:  3 trappers in a canoe in the Kennebec River--SG knocked DW overboard with the blow.


Inquest:  verdict:  "David Wilson of Bowdoinham...Solomon Goodwin of Bowdoinham yeoman on Monday Evening the 25th of May Instant Struck said David Wilson with an Oar of ye Value of 8d over the Left Eye which Blow we Judge to be the Cause of his Death...Solomon Goodwin in Manner and form aforesaid the aforesaid David Wilson then and there Feloniously Did Kill and Murder" 


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  6/1772 (Cumberland & Lincoln Co.) 


Court proceedings:  Solomon Goodwin of Bowdoinham (Lincoln Co., y) 5/25/1772 at Bowdoinham, malice aforethought, m. David Willson.  Struck with an oar on the left temple & on the eye, 1" deep mortal wound, inst.  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  to hang 8/13.  Exec. 11/12/1772

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1772:  161-2.  


Source: Suffolk file 139479  vol. 892

Suffolk file #: 139479

Date of inquest: "Twenty Seventh Day of May...twelfth

year...George the third"

Coroner or j.p.: Edmund Bridge

Town of inquest: Bowdoinham  Lincoln County

Location of inquest:

Suffolk file 139479    vol. 892  Indictment vs. Solomon Goodwin  15 papers

“Cumberland ss”   “At his Majesty’s Superior Court of Judicature...Falmouth...on the Tuesday next after the fourth Tuesday of June, in the Twelfth Year...George the Third”

     “The Jurors...Solomon Goodwin of Bowdoinham...yeoman, on the Twenty-fifth Day of may last past, Bowdoinham...with Force and Arms, feloniously, wilfully and of his malice aforethught, assault one David Wilson...with a certain Oar, of the Value of Eight pence, which he the said Solomon then and there held in both his Hands, did, with Force and Arms, feloniously, wilfully and of his malice aforethought strike and smite the said David Wilson in and upon the left Temple and in and upon the left eye of him the said David...giving to him...one mortal Wound three Inches in Length, two Inches in Width and one Inch in Depth, of which same mortal Wound the said David Wilson then and there instantly dyed: And so the Jurors...in Manner and Form, and by the means aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully and of his malice aforethought, did kill and murder the said David Wilson”

[back]

pleads not guilty

Recognizance:  Stephen Goodwin (Bowdoinham, Y) 20 l. bond to give evidence concerning the death of DW.


Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999), 154.

Newspaper:

#243 CJNH 6/12/1772:  dtl Boston, 6/8:  HOM \ MANSL in MAINE:  Kennebec, 5/25, 3 men in a canoe "some Difference happened between two of them, viz. Solomon Goodwin and David Wilson, the former struck the other on his Head with the Edge of an Oar, and knock'd him overboard, whereby he was drowned.  Goodwin has since absconded.  The Body of Willson was taken up and buried on the 27th."  BNL 6/11.


NHG, 7/10/1772 ( ):  HOM in ME:  at Falmouth, Superior Court.  Tried and convicted Solomon Gooding for the murder of David Wilson at Bowdoinham.  Jury "solemn" "melancholy" "dejected" as it delivered the verdict.  BNL 7/16.


NHG, 12/4/1772 ( ):  HOM in ME:  dtl Falmouth, 11/28.  On a letter Solomon Gooding wrote his wife & children the day before his execution.


#267 CJNH 11/27/1772:  dtl Boston 11/23:  EXEC / HOM in MAINE:  Th, 10/15, Solomon Goodwin executed at Falmouth for murder of Willson.  Sermon by Rev. Mr. Clark on Luke 23, 42, 43.  Prisoner then was returned to his cell to reflect for .5 hr. on what he had heard.  Prisoner said at his execution that "he had no intention to kill Wilson with the blow that unhappily prov'd to be his death."  Sermon by Rev. Mr. Clark.  SG "affectionately cautioned the large crowd of people who attended him against intemperate drinking, quarrelling, and keeping wicked company."  BNL 11/26:  ditto.  6000 persons attended the execution.


BGAZ 6/8 & 11/23/1772

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Solomon Goodwin 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:

yes, 4 ch.

Occupation:

trapper; "yeoman"

Town:


Bowdoinham 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

David Willson

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m
Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

trapper
Town:


Bowdoinham 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1772, late May or early June


Stockbridge, BER
P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  James Hervey m. James Ferrell


Weapon:  ax


Circumstances:  body found on 6/11, "the naked body of a man who appear'd to be a foreigner, of about 30 years of age was found, murdered, in Stockbridge about a mile distant from Col. Williams's iron works, and a few rods from the road" [4 rods from the road leading from Great Barrington]


Inquest:  verdict:  willful murder


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  warrant issued for arrest of JH.  Fled.
Source:  
Newspaper:

#245 CJNH 6/26/1772:  dtl Boston, 6/22:  HOM in western MA:  Details.  Says the body found on the 12th inst.  Victim "appear'd to have been a Person in good Circumstances; he was of middling Stature, had black curl'd Hair, a fine blue Broad Cloth Coat, new buff Breeches, a stript Waistcoat, Stone Sleeve Buttons, and a very fine Holland Shirt."  Unknown, however, as is the murderer.  "Deacon Brown of Stockbridge says, that the former was lately at his House with a Sum of Money (as he knew the Cloaths) and that at the same time there was an Old Country Man in his House that went off a little before the deceased; and 'tis supposed the same Man, by Disciription, is now at Simsbury in Connecticut; for such a Person there has lately enquired of a Berkshire Man whether there was not a Man found dead near Brown's aforementioned; which enquiry was prior to his being found.  'Tis supposed he had been murdered about five or six Weeks."  BNL 6/25.


CC, 6/23/1772:  HOM in western MA:  "On the 11th inst. the naked body of a man who appear'd to be a foreigner, of about 30 years of age was found, murdered, in Stockbridge about a mile distant from Col. Williams's iron works, and a few rods from the road [4 rods from the road leading from Great Barrington].  His teeth were all standing in his head, bit flesh almost eat off his body, his bowels almost consumed, and his scull bone broke over one of his eyes [body found 8 rods from his clothes].  A brown surtout, a duray waistcoat, a double breasted ditto, and a pair of mittens marked round the wrist, 1771 I. M. were found about four rods from the body, very bloody; an ax was also found a few rods from the cloaths, which was very bloody, and a few hairs were found on it, which were exactly like the hair on the head of the body.  The corner's inquest brought in their verdict, Wilful Murder!


The person who is supposed to have committed the above murder, was seen with him in New Canaan and Richmond the latter part of May last; he had with him a small pack, tied up in a handkerchief, which he carried hanging down his back on the above ax helve.  He is a large bodied man, with sandy colour'd hair, and is supposed to be a High Dutchman.  The deceased had a watch in his pocket, and silver buckles in his shoes."


#247 CJNH 7/3/1772:  HOM in western MA:  warrant for arrest of James Hervey, transient, supposed murderer of James Farrel in Stockbridge, about late May or beginning of June, "and robbed said murthered Person of divers Articles . . . Two pair of Buckskin Breeches, one brown Camblet Waist Coat, sundry Shirts, a pair of Shoes, one pair of large Silver Shoe Buckels, mark'd I. F. and a very neat Silver Watch."  JH 6' tall (24), "very meanly cloathed, of a fair Complexion, very light colour'd Hair, supposed to be an Englishman."  $10 reward for his capture.  // James Farrel, the victim, belonged to Greenwich, New Jersey.  wife & several ch.  James Harvey, "a short Time before he committed the Murder, broke Albany Goal, where he was confined for Theft."  [CC, 7/7]

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

James Hervey

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

72"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

escaped Albany, NY jail, where he was incarcerated for theft; poorly clothed

Town:


transient

Birthplace:

b. England

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

James Ferrell

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


30

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:


several children

Occupation:

[fairly prosperous; not in "mean circumstances" as his elegant clothing showed]

Town:


traveller; lived in Greenwich, New Jersey

Birthplace:

"foreigner"

Religion:




Organizations:



1772, July 25




Boston, SUF

P

Class:   probable
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  poss SEXUAL ASSAULT

Intox?:  

Day of week:    Sat

Holiday?:
  no

Time of day:    evening

Days to death:  7


HOM:  an unk. Scots seaman (aided and abetted by other Scots seamen) [assume 3] m. Mrs. Norton


Weapon:  struck & abused her.  d. the following Sat.


Circumstances:  in the North End


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled
Source:  
Newspaper:

#252 CJNH 8/14/1772:  dtl Boston, 8/10:  HOM MANSL in MA:  "We hear, that on Saturday Evening the 25th July, a Seaman, struck and otherwise abused one Mrs. Norton at the North End, so that she died the Saturday following.  The Person, with others concerned, (Natives of Scotland) were permitted to escape."  [CC 8/18]

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:

Scot

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

seaman

Town:


transient or Boston

Birthplace:

b. Scotland

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Norton

Ethnicity:

[English]
Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

married or widowed

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1772, Nov. 5 




Boston, SUF

INQ

P


NOTE:  no indictment on a possible poisoning, so do not count

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by SLAVES

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  1


HOM:  Pomp and James m. Laby


Weapon:  poison


Circumstances:  in the south part of Boston


Inquest:  verdict:  "that from the Testimony of Doctor Jeffers & others who opened and Examined the Body of the said Laby that she was poysned and from further evidence it apears that Pomp a Servant to Mr John Fleet and James a Servant to Mrs Wm Powel were the persons who poysned the said Laby at said Powels house on the fourth Instant by which means she died in about 24 Hours after."


Indictment?  bnf


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  suspects jailed for examination

Source:  
Suffolk file #: 102207  v. 603

Date of inquest: 7 November 1772

Coroner or j.p.: Robt. Pierpont, coroner

Town of inquest: Boston, Suffolk

Newspaper:

#265 CJNH 11/13/1772:  dtl Boston, 11/9:  POSS HOM in MA:  "Last Thursday a Negro Woman at the South Part of the Town died somewhat suddenly; the next Day some Symptoms appeared by which it was suspected she was poisoned; and on Saturday Evening two or three Negro Fellows were taken up and committed, in order for Examination."  BNL 11/12.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Pomp

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant to Mr John Fleet

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

James

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant to Mrs William Powel 

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Laby

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant or slave of Mrs. William Powels

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1772 and 1773]




MAINE

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  count 3 Indians

Rela:    NONDOM INDIANS by WHITES

Motive:  GENOCIDE / TERRORISM

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. white men [at least 5] m. several Indians


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  

Nothing in Acts and Resolves in May or June 1773

Newspaper:

#291:  CJNH, 5/14/1773 (F):  (3:3):  dtl Boston, 5/6:  HOM of IND in ME:  "One Day last Week an Indian came to this Town from Saint Francois, by the Way of Kenebeck, with a Frenchman for his Interpreter, and on Tuesday last he attended His Excellency the Governor and the Honorable the Council at Cambridge.  We are informed that five Chiefs of the Aresaguntacook Indians, of which the Indians of St. Francois are a Part, left Canada the latter End of the Summer, and that when they came to the Heighth of the Land four of them were taken with the Measles and determined to proceed no further, but desired the fifth with the Interpreter to go on.  We hear that the Purport of the Message was to obtain Satisfaction for the Deaths of several Indians alleged to have been killed at different Times in the Woods by the English; and to seek Security in some Way or other against such Actions for the future; and that had rather have satisfaction in Money than by the Punishment of the guilty Persons, if they should be discovered.  We are not informed what Answer has been given."  [CC 5/11]

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

several unk. white men

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

several unk. Indians

Ethnicity:

St. Francis / Aresaguntacook
Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[n.d. guess 1773, early 1770s]


[Boston, SUF]

FILE


NOTE:  not an official action, only an anonymous complaint

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:

Day of week:   Saturday or Sunday

Holiday?:

Time of day:   night

Days to death:

     HOM: unknown m. unknown sailor

     Weapon: thrown overboard is all that is known

     Circumstances: murder aboard a ship

     Inquest: n

     Indictment?  n

     Term?: n. a.

     Court proceedings:

Source:

     Suffolk files # 26602, Vol. 212

     "Gentlemen of the Jury we Do mutch admiar at your weakness

In your no Inquiring moare in to that poor murthered person death

which was Comited By one or two that Belonged to yt Success man

of war.  If you do procure the Book that was flongue over Board

with him you will find thiar names in Sum of the Leaves of it If

they ‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑ [torn] or Desast [?] that Comited that murder of

that miserable ‑‑‑‑‑‑‑ [torn] or Retch as hee may Be Caled we Do

thiar foare pray you ‑‑‑‑‑‑ [torn] that we aught to pray that

this may Be futher ‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑ [torn] so that you may not Bring the

guilt of that murther on ‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑ [torn] he was a Live on Board

of the Success from on of the ‑‑‑‑‑ [torn] Saturday Night ‑ To

one a Sunday Nite or thiar a Boutt"

     Desiar No Enmie [?] the Ships Crew thiar foar here is Not our Names

Newspaper:

Census:

Genealogy:

Accused:

___

Ethnicity:

Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

Marital Status:

Children:

Occupation:

Town:


sailors from HMS Success
Birthplace:

Religion:

Organizations:

Victim:   

___

Ethnicity:

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

Marital Status:

Children:

Occupation:

sailor from HMS Success
Town:

Birthplace:

Religion:

Organizations:

1773, Jan. 16




Boston, SUF

INQ

CT

P

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE / CHRONIC for years

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  13


HOM:  James Bell m. Christian Bell (his wife) 


Weapon:  struck her on forepart of head over right eye, 2" deep.  d. 1/29,  One mortal wound.  with his right fist.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  yes, death by blow to head from her husband.  "that the said Christian Bell came to her Death in consequence of repeated Blows upon her Body, given her by her said Husband, James Bell; more particularly by one Blow or Blows upon her Head, just over the right Eye, which she received from him, on, and since the Evening of the sixteenth Day of January Instant"


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  2/1773:  Boston 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of MANSL.  benefit of clergy.  burned in left hand.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1773-4:  14-15.  

Suffolk file #: 102327  v.605

Date of inquest: 30 January 1773

Coroner or j.p.: Thomas Crafts, coroner

Town of inquest: Boston, Suffolk

v.603 #102201

from Indictment: "not having the Fear of God in his Heart did with Force and Arms feloniously, wilfully & of malice aforethought assault one Christian Bell then the Wife of the said James, ...

with his right Fist, strike & smite the sd Christian, in & upon

the fore part of  her Head, over, & near her right Eye, thereby

giving to her the said Christian ... one mortal wound, two Inches

long, one Inch broad & two Inches in Depth of which same mortal

Wound She the said Christian then & there languished & languishing

did live from the said Sixteenth Day of January last untill the

Twenty‑Ninth Day of the same January, at Boston...O

Newspaper:

#278:  CJNH, 2/12/1773 (F):  (2:3):  dtl Boston, 2/4:  HOM / MANSL WIFE in MA:  "Last Thursday Afternoon died at the North End, after a few Days Illness, Mrs. Christian Bell, Wife of James Bell, of this Town, Cordwainer, who is a Native of Scotland; it being notorious to Numbers of People that this Woman had several Years past very undeservedly suffered frequent and cruel Abuses from her Husband; a Suspicion immediately arose after her Death, that she had been murdered by him; in Consequence of which, a Warrant was issued on Friday by Mr. Justice Gardner, and the said James Bell was apprehended; after an Examination had before the said Justice, was on the Evening of that Day committed to Goal.---On Saturday a Coroners Inquest was summoned, who after carefully examining the Witnesses and critically inspecting the Body, with the assistance of Mess'rs Danforth, Rand, &c. Physicians of this Town, upon their Oaths declare, that the said Christian Bell came to her Death in consequence of repeated Blows upon her Body, given her by her said Husband, more particularly by one Blow or Blows upon her Head, just over the right Eye, which she received from him, on and since the Evening of the 16th ult."  [CC 2/9]  BNL 2/4.


#282:  CJNH, 3/12/1773 (F):  (2:2-3:1):  dtl Boston, 3/4:  MANSL WIFE in MA:  "The Trial of James Bell, for the Murder of his Wife, as lately mentioned in the Papers, came on last Thursday before the Superior COurt of Judicature, &c. which lasted from nine in the Morning 'till three in the Afternoon, when the Jury went out and return'd about half after four, and brought in their Verdict Not Guilty of Murder, but Guilty of Manslaughter.  And on Saturday he was again set to the Bar, when the King's Attorney mov'd the Bench that Sentence of Death might be pass'd on him; he pleading the Benefit of Clergy was burnt in the Hand in Court and discharged, after a moving Admonition given him by His Honor the Chief Justice."  BNL 3/4.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

James Bell 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Christian

Children:




Occupation:

cordwainter 

Town:


Boston 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Christian Bell

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. James

Children:




Occupation:

housewife
Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1773, June




Boston, SUF

P


NOTE:  do not count -- insuff. evidence

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   SUS / poss HOM

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Richard Corben suspected of m. Ann Corben (his wife)


Weapon:  blows [phys]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  verdict:  no evidence against him.  Discharged.


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Newspaper:

BNL 6/10/1773 (Th):  SUS DEATH in MA:  Mrs. AC "There being a suspicion that her death was occasioned by some blows she received from her husband," RC, about 10 days before, he was jailed & a jury of inquest impanelled.  "there appeared no Evidence against him, he was discharged."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Richard Corben

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Ann

Children:




Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Ann Corben

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


50

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Richard

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1773 or 1772?], Aug. 20                Charlestown, MID

FILE


Note:  not in SCJ records

Class:   do not count

Crime:   CAS SULKY

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  

Intox?: n

Day of week:    


Holiday?:



Time of day:   

Days to death:  


HOM:  Joseph Hassell k. Mercy Whittemore


Weapon: 


Circumstances:  


Inquest: n


Indictment?  y, manslaughter


Term?:  10/1773t or 10/1772t


Court proceedings:  pNG, fG

Source: 

SCJ 1772, 1773-4:  nothing at the 10/1772t or 10/1773t

Suffolk file 148071    vol. 1017

“Middlesex ss” “At his Majesty’s Superiour Court...Cambridge...the last Tuesday of October on the thirteenth year...George the third...”

“The Jurors...Joseph Hassel of Charlestown...labourer, on the twentyeth day of August last past at Charlestown...feloniously assault one Mercy Whittemore...and in a certain Chaise drawn by one Horse in the King’s High-way,...Joseph Hassel, then and there riding in a certain Sulkey drawn by one Horse and driving the same Horse, did, then and there...feloniously drive the same Horse so drawing the said Sulkey , to and against the said Chaise, in hereby the said Mercy Whittemore was then and there violently thrown out of the said Chaise and down the upon the Ground there, by means whereof the Neck of the sd. Mercy Whittemore was then and there broken whereof the sd. mercy Whittemore then and there instantly dyed; and so the Jurors...do say that the said Joseph Hassel...feloniously did kill and slay the said Mercy Whittemore...”

[back]

“Indictment of Josh. Hassel

for Manslaughter.-“

“The Jury say he is guilty.”

“To this Indictment the said Joseph Hassell, upon his arraignment at the Bar, pleads not guilty and for Trial puts himself upon God and the County.”

Newspaper:

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

Joseph Hassell

Ethnicity:  



Race:       

w

Gender:     

m

Age: 


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:        

Children: 

Occupation: 

laborer

Town: 


Charlestown

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Mercy Whittemore

Ethnicity:



Race:     

w

Gender:    

f

Age: 


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:      


Children: 




Occupation:   



Town:   




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1773, Nov. 15




Gardinerstown, LIN

INQ

CT

FILE

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM ADULT by THIRD PARTY

Motive: child abuse or oversevere punishment -- third parties intervened to stop it, & the abuser was killed in the ensuing confrontation

Intox?:  no
Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  9


HOM:  Daniel McCarthy m. Josiah Parker 


Weapon:  with large billet of wood 4' long & .75" diameter, 1 mortal wound on right side of head .75" deep.  d. 11/24.  //  dec. had been correcting his own child with his hand drawn up in a fist.


Circumstances:  in the house of Mr. Joseph Burns.  JP:  a child beater & a wife beater, who had had previous confrontations with DM over such behavior.


Inquest:  verdict:  "Josiah parker of Gardinerstown ... yeoman ... on the fifteenth day of November Instant the aforesaid parker being in the house of Mr Joseph Burn in Gardinerston...Daniel McCarty of said Gardinerstown Labourer...Struck the said Parker a Blow on the Right Side of his head with a white oak Cleft of wood of four inches Length & two inches in diameter in such a manner that we Judge it to be the Cause of his Death...said Daniel McCarty in manner and form aforesaid Josiah Parker the and there Feloniously Did kill and murder"


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  6/1774:  Falmouth (C & L) 


Court proceedings:  Daniel McCarthy of Gardinerstown (without bounds of any town, Lincoln Co., Y) 11/15/1773 a. Josiah Parker with large billet of wood 4' long & .75" diameter, 1 mortal wound on right side of head .75" deep.  d. 11/24.  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1773-4:  236.  


Source: Suffolk file 139600  vol. 895

Suffolk file #: 139600

Date of inquest: November 27, 1773

Coroner or j.p.: Daniel Bridge

Town of inquest: Gardinerston Lincoln County

Location of inquest:

Suffolk file 139600   vol. 895     McCarthy Daniel: Examination of etal 16 papers

“Cumberland ss”   “At his Majesty’s Superiour Court of Judicature...Falmouth...Tuesday next following the fourth Tuesday of June, in the Fourteenth year...George the Third”

 “The Jurors...Daniel McCarthy of a place called Gardinerston without the bounds of any Town but in the County of Lincoln aforesaid Yeoman, did, on the Fifteenth day of November...[1773]...at Gardinerston...with force and arms feloniously assault one Josiah Parker...with a large Cleft or Billet of Wood; four feet in length & three quarters of an Inch in diameter, of the Value of Six pence, then & there held in the right hand of the said Daniel, did then & there with force & arms feloniously strike the said Josiah Parker one mortal Blow, in & upon the right Side of the Head...thereby giving...one Mortal Wound, one Inch & a half long and three quarters of an Inch deep; of which said mortal Wound, the said Josiah Parker, from the said Fifteenth day of November aforesaid...untill the Twenty fourth day of the same month...did languish, and on the said Twenty fourth day of November...the said Josiah Parker...of the same mortal Wound...died; And so the Jurors...do say that the said Daniel McCarthy the said Josiah Parker with force & arms in manner & Form aforesaid did feloniously kill & slay”

“To this Indictment...pleads not guilty”


[back]

“Presentmt. M.Carthy

for Manslaughter 1774”

Witnesses bound for prosecution:  Zachariah Flitner (surgeon), Joseph Barnes (Y), Dennis Jenkins (ship wright), Joseph Parker (Y), Jno. Hicks (physician) of Gardnerstown, & many others.

Joseph Burns of Gardnerstown (L, signed) d.d. 11/27/1773:  on 11/15, wit. was at his own house & saw dec. (Josiah Parker) about a rod distant "sitting on a Log correcting one of his Children--Mr. Jenkins desired me to go with him & take the Child from sd Parker.  I would not go but Mr. Jenkins & Danil McCarty went -- Mr. Jenkins took the Child from Mr. Parker and bro't it into my House - I saw Parker & McCarty engag'd together in a hollow Place below my below my House -- I then saw McCarty come upon the Hill and Parker after him McCarty then stop'd & Parker immediately engaged with him.  Mr. Jenkijns desired me to go out and relieve McCarty but I not thinking either of them in Danger of Harm would not go out.  Mr. Jenkins then went out and attempting to disengage them they all three fell to the Ground -- I then heard Jenkins desire Parker to let go McCarty -- soon after, Mr. Jenkins freed McCarty.  Sd McCarty immediately arose and went about six feet & took up a Billet of Wood in the mean time Parker & Jenkins had both got up -- McCarty turned round & struck sd Parker on the Head & He immediately fell.  Jenkins then went to McCarty & took sd Billet of Wood out of his Hands.  Mr. Jenkins then came in & said that he believed McCarty had broke Parkers Skull.  Immediately went out & helped sd Parker up."

Jonathan Hicks (Gardnerstown, physician, signed):  Josiah Parker sent for him on 11/22.  JP's left side was paralyzed.  On 11/23, returned, examined head wound, found skull frac.  d. 11/24.  Together with other physicians, "by the Desire of the deceas'd Friends" performed an autopsy.  Opened the body.  The head wound & fracture & damage to the brain beneath caused the death.

Dennis Jenkins (Gardnerstown, signed):  at JB's house, saw dec. sitting on a log correcting his chyild, "the Child cryed very much.  I told Messrs Burns & others we had better go and take the Child from him.  I went out and Daniel McCarty followed me.  I told hyim hye had better go back and I would take the Child from Him myself.  Sd. McCarty said He would go with me.  We both went to Him & took ye Child from him."  ditto from there.  McCarty "started from us as we were on the Ground.  I then disengaged myself & went about ten feet -- thyen I heard a Blow.  I then turned my self round and saw Parker stretcht out on the Ground" & saw DM with the billet of wood.  Wit. went immed. to DM & took the billet & carried it to Mr. Burns & "desired Mr. Burns to take care of the sd Stick."

Daniel McCarthy (Gardnerstown, Y, signed):  that morning, DM had gone with DJ to kill a hog, & then they killed & dressed another hog for Mr. Upham [sp?], then they went to Mr. Burn's to kill & dress a hog for him.  Had killed it & had gotten it half dressed when they saw dec. "coming from one Mr. Fitch's with a Child which he held by one of its arms.  He went with the Child to Burns's Gullky and sat down upon an Oak Log, and took the Chyild and laid it across his Knees, and begun to whip it with his hand, the Child being about two years old, & cryed & screamed very much.  Jenkins said to the said McCarthy, for God's sake let us run for he will kill the Child.  They both run down and Jenkins took the Child away from him."  DM stood still & did not try to "meddle" with JP or the child.  DJ took the child into the house, DM walked away & reached the top of the hill when dec. caught up to him "with his hands clenched."  ditto from there.  DM took up a white oak cleft about 4' or 5' long & hit dec. on the head, who fell instantly & remained senseless 1 or 2 minutes.  When dec. came to, he said "I lay in my Gore, but McCarthy I forgive you."  "They then carried" the dec. to his house & called Dr. Flitner, who said the wound was "not very bad, & that if he would keep in the house & would not drink Rum, he would" be able "to go about his Business" in 8 days or so.  The next day, the dec. came to DM's house three times asking DM to go to Norcross's "to borrow two Quarts of Rum for him, which he did, and carried it to said Parker's house."  Parker's wife made a mug of toddy & JP drank part of it, & in a quarter of an hour she made another & JP drank part of that one.  DM & his wife "kept with said Parker and provided Wood &c. for him the whole Time of his illness."  DM says he had no malice toward JP & that he struck JP "owing to the Provocation he met with" from JP " who doubtless excited his Passions beyond the Bounds of Reason."  Two days after DM struck JP, JP went out to help DM launch a canoe so DM could fetch a doctor, but the canoe was too heavy for them to move.

Joseph Parker (Gardnerstown, brother of deceased, signed):  ditto on the incident, which he witnessed.  But adds that "he had frequently heard McCarty threaten Josiah parker that he would be revenged on him that last summer he threatened he sd Carty would stab sd Josiah Parker."  "I have heard MrCarthy say if my Bro'th should affront him, he would be revenged on him.  I have known him draw his knife on him.  He is a very passionate man.  He drew his kinfe in my house on account of my Brother striking or punching his wife.  They often quarreled."  Acknowledged that his brother was correcting his child with his fist.

Newspaper:

#326:  CJNH, 1/14/1774 (F):  (4:2):  dtl Boston, 1/6:  HOM in MA:  "We hear from Gardnerston, in the County of Lincoln, that on Daniel M'Carthy, was lately committed to Goal for the supposed Murder of Josiah Parker; he is to have his Tryal at the Court of Assize to be held at Falmouth in July next."  BNL 1/6/1774.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Daniel McCarthy 

Ethnicity:

[Irish or Scots-Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

yeoman [inquest:  laborer]

Town:


Gardinerstown (without bounds of any town, Lincoln Co.)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Josiah Parker 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

yeoman

Town:


Gardinerstown (without bounds of any town, Lincoln Co.)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1774, June 24




Boston, SUF

P

INQ


NOTE:  inq. says attack was on 6/22.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL / FIGHT

Intox?:  

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  1


HOM:  James Low m. William Elliot


Weapon:  beating in a fist fight.  "Blows from the Fists of James Lowe"


Circumstances:  at Fort Castle William.  both men soldiers in 64th Regiment


Inquest:  verdict:  mansl.  "that the said William Elliot, on the Twenty Second day of June Instant did receive a number of Blows, from the Fists of James Lowe, Soldier in said 64 Regiment, & on the day following expired by occasion of those Blows, & by that Means came to his Death"


Indictment?  Robert Bishop, William White & Samuel Moss summoned to give evidence against James Lowe


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  refered to military court

Source:  
Suffolk file #: 102409  v.606

Date of inquest: 24 June 1774

Coroner or j.p.: Thomas Brown

Town of inquest: Boston, Suffolk

Newspaper:

#350:  CJNH, 7/1/1774 (F):  3:1 dtl Boston, 6/27:  HOM \ MANSL IN MA:  "Friday last two soldiers, one of them named Low, the other Elliot, both belonging to the 64th regiment, now in garrison at Castle William, having engaged in a boxing match upon some affront given, wherein the latter received so much hurt that he died soon after:--A jury of inquest was summoned from this town, (by desire of Col. Leslie, the commanding officer,) who we hear bro't in their verdict that his death was occasioned by the blows he received, and Law is since committed in order for trial."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

James Low

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

soldier in the 64th regiment, now in garrison at Castle William

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:

[b. England]

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Elliot

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

soldier in the 64th regiment, now in garrison at Castle William

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:

[b. England]

Religion:




Organizations:



1775, Jan.




Falmouth

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  4 or 5 men of the Gaspee m. one man


Weapon:  gun


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  verdict:  willful murder.


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Newspaper:
NHG, 2/4/1775 ( ):  WAR in ME:  dtl 1/7:  in Falmouth, Casco Bay, last week.  4 or 5 men belonging to the Gaspee "(one of the armed Cutter's on the American Station)" tried to go ashore in a boat.  Fired on from the vessel.  One killed.  Jury of Inquest:  "WILFUL MURDER."  Civil officers tried to make arrests, but were not allowed on board.  [which incident was this?]  


CJNH, #385, 3/1/1775:  2:3 dtl Boston, 2/20:  "We hear from Falmouth Casco Bay, that one Day last Week as 4 or 5 Men belonging to the Gaspee (one of the armed Cutter's on the American Station) were attempting to go ashore in the Boat, were fired at from the Vessel and one of them kill'd; they however landed with the dead body, and a Jury of inquest was summoned, who bro't in their Verdict, Wilful Murder; upon which the proper Civil Officers went off with intent to secure the Murderer, but were not permitted to go on board."  BNL 2/23 [Th]

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

mariner; sailors on the Gaspee
Town:


transient

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[Falmouth]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1775, Aug.




Boston, SUF

P


NOTE:  a vague report, no corroboration in the Boston area newspapers, so dubious.

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss. HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  DUEL over POLITICAL DISPUTE
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. British Marine lt. m. unk. British Marine captain


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Newspaper:

#412:  CJNH, 9/6/1775 (W):  2:2 dtl Cambridge, 8/31:  DUEL in MA:  "We are told that a Captain and Lieutenant, both belonging to the Marines, to the ministerial Army, lately fought a Duel in Boston, occasioned by a political Dispute; in which the Captain was killed, and the Lieutenant badly wounded."  [[do not count yet:  nothing in the Mass. papers]

Boston Newsletter, missing 4/27 through 5/12; 6/8 through 7/6; 7/20 through 8/10; 8/24; 9/14 through 10/6; 11/2; 11/23; 12/7.  RECHECKED the BNL, 8/17, 8/31, & 9/7 issues:  nothing.

Boston Gazette, missing 4/24 through May, so started with 6/5, read through to end of 1775:  nothing but war news.  RECHECKED the BG, 8/28 & 9/4:  nothing.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

royal marine lieutenant

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

royal marine captain

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1776, June 17




Cambridge, MID

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM BRITISH OFFICER by AMERICAN SENTRY

Motive:  JUSTIFIED / defied orders to turn back

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]

HOM:  unk. American soldier m. unk. British Lieutenant


Weapon:  gunshot through the head


Circumstances:  at a sentry post on Prospect Hill, Cambridge


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  
Newspaper:
#559 CJNH, 7/1/1776 (W):  dtl Boston, 6/25:  HOM of PRISONER of WAR in MA:  W last, a centinel of the guards at Prospect Hill, Cambridge, Lt. Brown of the 21st Regiment, British, riding in a chaise between 2 women "of (easy) VIRTUE" from Boston, "and it being contrary to general Orders that Women should pass the Lines it was therefore the Centry's Duty to stop him.  The unfortunate Officer treated the Centry with Contempt, insisted on passing, without giving any Reasons for so doing; upon which the Centry, after repeated Orders to the Officer to stop, shot him through the Head.  "FOOLS DIE FOR WANT OF WISDOM."

   The Prisoners who were near, seized the Centry, and drag[g]ed him by the Heels up the Hill, which tore his Face considerably, and otherwise much absued him, before he was released by the Picquat."

   3:2 Boston, 6/22:  Letter from Major General Phillips, to Major General Heath, Cambridge, 6/17/1776.  "MURDER and death, at length, has taken place.  An officer riding out from the barracks on Prospect Hill, has been shot by an American centinel.  I leave the horrors incident to that bloody disposition, which has jlined itself to rebellion, in these colonies, to the feelings of all europe.  I do not ask for justice, for I believe, every principle of it is fled from this Province.


I DEMAND LIBERTY, to send an officer to Gen. Sir henry Clinton, by way of the head quarters of General Washington, with my report of this murder.


WILLIAM PHILLIPS, Major General.  Major General HEATH.


In Consequence of the above insolent, ungentleman like Letter, the General lay under an Obligation to confine him to his House and Garden."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

soldier or militiaman in American service

Town:


resident of Cambridge

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Lt. ___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:

y

Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

lieutenant in British army

Town:


resident of Cambridge

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1776, Oct. 14




Waldoborough, LIN

CT

FILE

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM LANDLORD by BOARDER

Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
8pm to 10pm

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Andrew Kinchlalius (aka Andrew Cancalus or Canoalus) m. Jacob Lash


Weapon:  stab with knife to breast.  d. 7-8 minutes


Circumstances:  just outside JL's house


Inquest:  verdict:  "Jacob Lash of Waldonborough...on the fourteenth of this Instant in the Evening between the Hours of Eight & Ten O Clock the Said Jacob Lash was known to have Differance (In his Own Hous) with one Andrew Kinckalius who lived in one Room of Said Lash's Hous Each in their Own Rooms the Scold or Quarril began at Length Said Andrew Challeng'd the Said Jacob out of the Hous upon which Said Jacob went out and Round the End of the Hous to Sd. Andrew's Door at which place the two meet & said Lash Recev'd a stab of a knife in his breast from Said Andrew by which means he Expired in about Seven or Eight minitts..Andrew Kinckalius the aforesaid Jacob Lash by misfortune and contrary to his Will in manner and form aforesaid Did Kill and Slay"


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  6/1777:  Falmouth (C & L) 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of MANSL.  benefit of clergy.  Burnt in left hand, forfeit all goods, 6 mo. in prison.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1775-8:  136-7.  


Source: Suffolk file 139704  vol. 898

Suffolk file #: 139704

Date of inquest: October 16, 1776

Coroner or j.p.: Thomas Boyd

Town of inquest: Waldonborough  Cumberland County

Location of inquest:

Suffolk file 139704   vol. 898   Indictment vs Andrew Kinckalius    11 papers

“Cumberland ss”   “At the Superiour Court of Judicature...Falmouth...Tuesday next following the fourth Tuesday of June...[1777]”

“The Jurors...Andrew Kinckalius otherways called Andrew Cancalus of Waldonborough...Cordwainer...on the Fourteenth day of October...[1776] about the Hour of Eight in the Evening of the same day at Waldonborough...with Force and Arms made an assault in and upon one Jacob Lash of said Waldonborough Labourer...and that the said Andrew...did Feloniously Wilfully and of his Malice aforethought did strike Stab and Wound the said Jacob Lash with a Knife of the Value of one shilling which the said Andrew then had and held in his right Hand, and did feloniously and of his malice aforethought...thereby give to the sd. Jacob one Mortal Wound in and upon the left Breast of the length of Four Inches and half and Inch in Breadth, of which Said Mortal Wound, the said Jacob Lash then and there Instantly died, and so the Jurors...Andrew Kinckalius...on the Fourteenth Day of October...did feloniously, Wilfully and of his Malice aforethought did Kill and Murder the said Jacob Lash”

“To the Indictment...pleads not guilty”

“The Jurey finds the Defenet Giltey of Manslater Caleb Grahham not guilty of murder but is guilty of manslaughter   Ordered that he forfeit all his goods, and Chattels that he be burnt in his hand. and that he suffer six months imprisonment and that the then be delivered”

“Cumberland ss.”

“Super Court at Falmouth July 1777 The Government and people of Masstts Bay agt. Andrew Concalus, who was acquitted of murder and found Guilty of manslaughter       Bill of Cost”

Witnesses:  Ludwig Cozno [sp?] & Ralph Champman & Caleb Howard & Mary Lush of Waldoborough

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Andrew Kinchlalius (aka Andrew Canoalus)

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

cordwainer

Town:


Waldoborough 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Jacob Lash 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

laborer
hhld head

Town:


Waldoborough 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1777]




Boston, SUF

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUS / POSS HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Elizabeth Smith m. ___


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Newspaper:

VGaz, 11/14/1777  P: 22  POSS. HOM in MA:  Murder trials discharged in Wmsb, VA:  in Virginia, Court of O&T, 5th & 6th:  Elizabeth Smith from Berkeley, for murder.  Discharged, for want of evidence to prosecute; "and it appearing that the said murder, if committed at all, was perpetrated in Boston."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Elizabeth Smith

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Berkeley Co., Virginia

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1777, [Feb.]





ESS

FILE

Class:   possible

Crime:   poss HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  




Day of week:    


Holiday?:



Time of day:   

Days to death:


HOM:  Barzel Bounderet m. unknown person[s] 


Weapon: 


Circumstances:  


Inquest: n


Indictment:  no


Term?:


Court proceedings:  jailed

Source: 

Suffolk file 132578vol. 822

List of prisoners in Goal at Salem     4 February 1777

“Barzel Bounderet on Suspicion of Murder”

Suffolk file 132578vol. 822

List of prisoners in Goal at Salem     4 February 1777

HOM  “Barzel Bounderet on Suspicion of Murder”

Newspaper:

Census:

Genealogy:

Accused: 

Barzel Bounderet

Ethnicity:  

[French]

Race:       

w

Gender:     

m

Age: 


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:        

Children: 

Occupation: 

Town: 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim: 

___

Ethnicity:



Race:     

[w]


Gender:    

[m]
Age: 


[ad]
Literate:




Marital Status:      


Children: 




Occupation:   



Town:   




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1777, March 24




Boston, SUF

INQ

CT

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:
10 pm

Days to death:  4


HOM:  Richard Nash m. Mary Nash (his wife) 


Weapon:  with pair of iron tongs, on the head & knocked her to the floor & then struck her on right temple, depth of 2", d. 3/28.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  "That the evening of the 24th of March Instant at About the Hour of ten O Clock Richard Nash Labourer Did with a Pair of Tongs Violently strike Mary Nash his Wife on which She Fell from the chair in which she sett and when she had Falled on the Floor said Nash Kickt her severall times & so Wounded her that she Died on the Twenty Eighth Instant.  And do the Jurors aforesaid upon their Oaths aforesaid say, That the aforesaid Mary Nash in manner and form aforesaid Richard Nash then and there Felloniously did Kill and Murder..."  [home v & a]

Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  2/1778:  Boston 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1775-8:  214-215.  

Suffolk file #:     102581, v.610

Date of inquest:    28 March 1777

Coroner or j.p.:    Ebenezer Dorr, coroner

Town of inquest:    Boston

SF #102581, v.610

from Indictment:  O...did make an assault, and that the said

Richard Nash then and there with force as aforsaid with a pair of

Iron Tongs of the value of five shillings which he the said

Richard Nash then and there held in his right hand feloniously

willfully, and of his malice aforethought struck the said Mary on

the head & knocked her to the Floor then and there giving the same

Mary Nash with the Iron Tongs aforsaid struck with his right hand

as aforsaid over the right side of her head near the right Temple

one mortal wound of the depth of two Inches & width of one Inch of

which mortal wound the said Mary Nash from the said twenty fourth

day of March last past untill the twenty eigth day of the same

March at said Boston in the County aforsaid did languish and

lansguishing did live, on which said twenty eigth day of March

last past the said Mary Nash ... died and so the Jurors ... say

that the said Richard Nash the said Mary Nash in manner and form

aforsaid feloniously wilfully & of his malice aforethought did

kill and murder...O

Newspaper:


#495 CJNH, 4/9/1777 (W):  3:1 dtl Boston, 4/3:  HOM \ MANSL WIFE in MA:  "Last Friday Evening, one Richard Nash was committed to Goal, for the supposed Murder of his Wife, Mercy; Evidence being obtained, that he on the Monday preceeding, unmercifully beat her with a Pair of Tongs, under which she languished till Friday, when she expired."  BGAZ 3/31:  ditto.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Richard Nash 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Mary

Children:




Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Boston 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Mary Nash 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f
Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Richard

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1777, Apr. 1




Boston, SUF

INQ

CT

P


[or night of 3/31:  newspaper]

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL – shot by sentry
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
2 am ["night" of 3/31]

Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Daily m. Benjamin Gustalow


Weapon:  musket charged with 1 lead bullet fired into his back between his shoulders, inst.  


Circumstances:  near the Boston-Stone


Inquest:  "That about two O Clock in the morning of the first day of April 1777 the Aforesd Benjamin Gonstalow passing by John Dealy who was placed a Centry at Mr. Eben. Hancocks (the Deputy pay master) House in Boston, was by him challenged, but refusing to submit himself to a Prisoner & attempting to make his escape was by the Sd. John Dealy shot thro the Body and expired immediately, the Aforesd John Dealy in manner & form aforesd, the Aforesd Benj. Gonstelowe, then & there, feloniously did kill & murder..."


Indictment?  yes, murder.  


Term?:  2/1778:  Boston 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of MANSL.  burnt in hand with letter T, forfeit all his goods & chattels.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1775-8:  212-213.  

Suffolk file #:     102630a v.611

Date of inquest:    1 April 1777

Coroner or j.p.:    Eben. Dorr, coroner

Town of inquest:    Boston

SF #102574, v.610

From Indictment: "...which muskett he the said John Dealy in both

his hands then and there had and held to, against, and upon the

said John Dealy then and there feloniously wilfully and of his

malice before thought, did shoot and discharge; and that the said

John Dealy with the leaden bullet aforsaid out of the muskett

aforsaid, then and there by force of the gunpowder shot and sent

forth as aforsaid, the aforsaid Benjamin Gonstalow in and upon the back of him the said Benjamin Gonstalow, between his shoulders then & there with the leaden bullet aforsaid out of the musket aforsaid by the said John Dealy so as aforsaid shot discharged and sent forth, feloniously wilfully and of his malice before thought, did strike penetrate and wound giving to the said Benjamin Gonstalow then & there with the leaden bullet aforsaid ... one mortal wound of the depth of eight inches and of the breadth of half and inch, of which said mortal wound the aforsaid Benjamin Gonstalow then and there instantly died.  And the the Jurors aforesaid upon their Oaths aforsaid do say, that the said John Dealy, the said Benjamin Gonstalow then & there ... did kill and murder..."

Newspaper:

#545 CJNH, 3/25/1778 (W):  2:1 dtl Boston, 3/18:  HOM in MA:  "At the Superior Court of Judicature, &c. held here last Week, one John Daily was tried for the murder of Benjamin Gastelow, near the Boston-Stone, on the night of the 31st of March last, when the Jury brought in their Verdict, Manslaughter, and he was branded in the Hand on Saturday last."  BGAZ 4/7/1777 (mentioned); BGAZ 3/9/1778.

Census:  

Genealogy:  

Accused:  

John Daily

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer / [soldier guarding deputy pay master]
Town:


Boston  

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Benjamin Gustalow

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

brewer

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1777, May 28




Boston, SUF

INQ

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  5


HOM:  Robert Pasco m. Margaret Welch 


Weapon:  seized her by the hair of her head & threw to the ground & stamped her on the back several times with his feet.  d. 6/2 of internal injuries.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  verdict:  "That the aforesaid Margaret Welch came to her Death by Means of the Wounds which were given her on the 28th of May last by Robert Pasco, And so the Jurors aforesaid upon their Oaths aforesaid say, That the aforesaid Robert Pasco in Manner and Form aforesaid, the aforesaid Margaret Welsh then and there feloniously did kill and Murder, against the Peace and Government of the People of the Massachusetts State."


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1777:  Boston 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1775-8:  151.  

Suffolk file #:     102501a, v.608

Date of inquest:    3 June 1777

Coroner or j.p.:    Ebenezer Dorr, coroner

Town of inquest:    Boston

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Robert Pasco 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Boston 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Margaret Welch 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1777, [July] 



Cape Elizabeth, CUM

FILE


NOTE:  no indictment, no premeditation

Class:   do not count

Crime:   CAS NEGLIGENT MANSL

Rela:   

Motive:  

Intox?: n 




Day of week:    


Holiday?:



Time of day:   


HOM: James McCormuck m. Reuben Bishop


Weapon: 


Circumstances:  


Inquest: n 


Indictment:  no


Term?:  7/1777


Court proceedings:  400 l. bond for appearance at next term of court

Source: 

Suffolk file 139738  vol. 898   McCormuck James.  Habeus Corpus for removing him from Cambridge to Falmouth Gaol.     2 papers

“In super Court at Falmo. July 4th 1777”

“James McCormuck of Cape Elizabeth Labourer recognized in the Sum of L400 for his appearance to what may be objected against him more especially to a Complaint agst him for killing one Reuben Bishop and for his keeping the peace &c. in the meantime”

Newspaper:

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

James McCormick

Ethnicity:  



Race:       

w

Gender: 

m

Age: 


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:        

Children: 

Occupation: 

laborer

Town: 


Cape Elizabeth

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim: 

Reuben Bishop

Ethnicity:



Race:     

w


Gender:     

m


Age: 


adult
Literate:




Marital Status:      


Children: 




Occupation:   



Town:   




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1777, Aug. 14




Brimfield, HAM

CT

FILE

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE UNCLE by NEPHEW

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Nathaniel Danielson m. Jabez Smith [aka Nichols]


Weapon:  with his right fist, struck divers blows on the head, temple, & body.  d. inst.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  4/1778:  Northampton (H & B) 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG of "the Murder mentioned in the Indictment."

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1775-8:  245-6.  


Suffolk file 158115   vol. 1165

“Hampshire ss”  “At his Majesty’s Superior Court of Judicature..Northampton....last Tuesday of April...[1778]”

“The Jurors...Nathaniel Danielson of Brimfield...Gentleman...on the fourteenth day of August last past, with force and Arms at Brimfield...feloniously willfully & of his malice aforethought, in and upon Jabez Nichols...an assault did make, and that the said Nathaniel Danielson, with his right fist, the said Jabez Nichols in and upon the Head, Temples and Side of the said Jabez Nichols...did strike and beat divers blows, giving to him the Jabez Nichols...several mortal bruizes...of which...Jabez Nichols there instantly died:..the Jurors...do say that the said Nathaniel Danielson at Brimfield aforesaid, the said Jabez Nichols in manner and form aforesaid, feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought did kill and murder”

“Northampton April Term 1776-The said Nathaniel Danielson comes into Court here & arraigned, and upon his arraignment Pleads not guilty”

Source:  Nathl P. Sargent Court Minutes, Sargent Family Papers, at Pea Ess, Box I, folder 11

the Case agst Nathaniel Danielson m. Jabez Nichols, Hampshire Co 4/1778 term:

ADD to our para from the Sargent Papers:


Testimony:  a quarrel, Danielson sd he did not mean to hurt him.  Def's son DANIEL testifies for the defense!  Dr. Pynchon examined the victim.  Dr. Hood testifies Nickhols complained to him a year ago of feeling poorly, had fallen of a horse, had dizziness, Dr. thinks "he was very ill".  Sargent summaries the points pro and con. Lists the legal texts consulted before he was found G of Manslaughter

Newspaper:

CC, 9/22/1777:  dtl Hartford:  HOM in MA or CT?  "We hear that Maj. Nathaniel Danielson of Brimfield is confined to goal at Springfield on suspicion of murdering his uncle."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Nathaniel Danielson 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

gentleman

Town:


Brimfield 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Jabez Smith [aka Nichols]

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1778, March 1




Brookfield, WOR

TRACT

FILE

CT

P


[DATE:  or from inquest, March 10?]

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MURDER

Rela:    MARITAL HUSBAND [with help of THIRD PARTIES]

Motive:  "aversion" to her husband / RID
Intox?:  no

Day of week:


Holiday?:
   no

Time of day:     9pm

Days to death:   0


HOM:  Wm Brooks of Boston (l), James Buchannon of Charlestown (l), Ezra Ross of Ipswich (l), and Bathsheba Spooner of Brookfield (widow of JS) m. Joshua Spooner of Brookfield


Weapon:  WB with this fist struck JS to & agst. the ground & with hands & feet kicked & beat JS on head, body, etc.  several mortal bruises.  inst.  


Circumstances:  see Hearn's account.  Excellent.


Inquest:  verdict:  "Joshua Spooner...in the evening of the Tenth of March about Nine oClock being returning home from his Neighbours near his his own Door was Fellonious Assaulted by one or more ruffians Knocked down by a Clubb beat and Brused and thrown into his own well with water in it by Persons unknown to us by which Meens sd. Joshua came to his Death...the afforesd unknown Persons then and there Felloniously did Kill and Murder"


Indictment?  yes, WB, JB, & ER for murder.  malice aforethought.  And BS incited & abetted the murder.  


Term?:  4/1778:  Worcester 


Court proceedings:  pNG.  All four fG of murder.  DEATH.  [trial lasted 16 hours].  Exec. 7/2/78.

Tract:


Ritz 5.02 (34):  many tracts available.  Several at MWA.  None with Evans numbers.


Deborah Navas, Murdered by His Wife (Amherst:  Univ. of Mass. Press, 1999).  HV 6534 B755 N38 1999

Source:  

Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1775-8: 227-8


Suffolk file 152958 vol. 1083

“Worcester ss” “At the Superior Court of Judicature...Worcester...last Tuesday of April...[1778]”

“The Jurors...William Brooks resident at Charlestown...labourer James Buchannon of the same 

Charlestown....Labourer and Ezra Ross of Ipswich...Labourer...on the first day of March last past with force and Arms at Brookfield...feloniously wilfully and of their malice aforethought in an upon Joshua Spooner of said Brookfield...an assault did make and that the aforesaid William Brooks with his right fist the said Joshua Spooner to and against the Ground then and there feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did strike down, and the same Joshua Spooner so on the Ground lying, he the said William Brooks with both his hands & feet of him the said William Brooks in and upon the back, head Stomach Sides & throat of him the said Joshua Spooner then and there feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did strike beat and kick giving to him the said Joshua Spooner a welt[?} by the Striking down of him the said Joshua Spooner to the Ground as aforesaid, and by the striking beating and kicking the said Joshua Spooner in and upon the Back, head, stomach sides and throat of...several mortal bruises of which...Joshua Spooner instantly died.  And that James Buchannan...Ezra Ross...feloniously...were presently riding[?], assisting, abetting, comforting and maintaining the aforesaid William Brooks to the felony and murder...And so the Jurors..William Brooks James Buchannan and Ezra Ross...feloniously willfully and of their malice aforethought killed and murdered against the peace of the Government...and that Bathsheba Spooner of Brookfield...Widow, late Wife of the said Joshua Spooner...before the felonly and murder...by...William Brooks, James Buchannan and Ezra Ross...on the twenty eighth day of February last past...the felony and murder aforesaid in manner and form aforesaid to be done and Committed Maliciously, Willfully and of her Malice afterthought did, incite move abett councel and procure against the Government”

“April Term 1776...William Brooks, James Buchannon, Ezra Ross & Bathsheba Spooner are brought & set to the Bar...and upon their arraignment they severally plead “That thereof they are not guilty and thereof they put themselves for trial on God and the Country.”


Source: Suffolk file 152958  vol. 1083

Suffolk file #: 152958

Date of inquest: March 13, 1778

Coroner or j.p: Thos Gilbert

Town of inquest: Brookfield  Worcester County

Location of inquest:

Daniel Allen Hearn, Legal Executions in New England:  A Comprehensive Reference, 1623-1960 (Jefferson, North Carolina:  McFarland, 1999), 158.

Peleg Chandler, American Criminal Trials (Boston:  Brown & Carter, 1844), 2: 1-58, 375-83.

American State Trials (1914 ed.), 2: 175-201.

Newspaper:
#544 CJNH, 3/18/1778 (W):  1:3 dtl Hartford, 3/10:  HOM HUSBAND in MA:  "We hear from Brookfield, That Mr. Joshua Spooner of that place was murdered Sunday night before last, by two regulars and one Ross of Ipswich:  these ruffians were hired by Mr. Spooner's wife to effect this tragical event, as appears by her own and their confession.  The men and woman are now in Worcester goal."  [CC 3/10]


#545 CJNH, 3/25/1778 (W):  2:1 dtl Boston, 3/18:  HOM HUSBAND in MA:  "On the night of the first instant (3/1), a most horrid Murder was committed in Brookfield, on the person of Mr. Joshua Spooner.  From the long premeditation [sic] of this Murder, the number of persons concerend (there being no less than seven capitally) and the methods made use of to accomplish their designs, it is supposed to be the most extraordinary crime ever perpetrated in New England.--Monday evening following, three of the villains concerend in the above murder, were taken up at Worcester.  On examination they impeached their accomplices, in consequence of which, Mrs. Spooner (the inventer [sic] of the murder) and the rest of her associates, were seized, and on Tuesday evening carried to Worcester and confined in Goal."

#551 CJNH, 5/6/1778 (W):  2:3-3:1 dtl Boston, 4/30:  on the trial & death sentence.  [CC 5/12]:  BS had "for some time, conceived a great aversion to her husband, with whom she had lived about 14 years.  His only fault appears to be, his not supporting a manly importance as head of his family, and not duly regulating the government of it.  It is very uncertain what this aversion in Mrs. Spooner's mind at first arose from; but from the general tenor of her conduct, it is probable that she cherished a criminal regard for some other person, until, having followed the blind impulses of wicked and unchaste desires, she lost all moral sensibility, discarded reason and conscience from her breast, and gave herself up to the most infamous prostitutions, and finally became determined to destroy the life of her husband, who seemed to check her wanton career in no other way than by prefventing her wasting his whole estate as she pleased.  In pursuance of this horrid design, she, at various times, procured poison, but never gave it to him; and that some time before the commission of this cruel fact, she became acquainted with Ross, to whom she made some amorous overtures, and told him, that if he would kill her husband, she would become his lawful wife.  It appears, by the examination of Ross before the Justices, that his conscience at first started at the appearance of so much guilt:  but upon her further persuasions, and the fancied happiness of marrying a woman so much above his rank in life, and the allurements of wallowing in Mr. Spooner's wealth, he fatally consented.  Previous to this, Ross had been sick at Spooner's house, and was kindly treated there; and that after these guilty overtures, he came and tarried there some time, with freedom, as one of the family, when Mr. Spooner treated him with great civilities, and many marks of particular friendship; that while he was there, he put poison in his drink, which was discovered; and that he rode with him to Oakham and Lancaster, and had engaged to poison him on the road; that he bought arsnic to effect his death, but never gave it to him.


Mrs. Spooner, tired with the delays of Ross, made like overtures to Serjeant Buhannon, of the convention troops, whom she directed to be called in, as he was passing in the road.  Buhannon and she engaged one William Brooks, of the same troops to commit the murder, promising him the deceased's watch, buckles and a thousand dollars.  Buhannon and Brooks came to Spooner's about a fortnight before his death, and stayed in his kitchen all night:  He then being afraid they would rob him, brought him money from the chamber, and procured one of his neighbours to stay with him, and set up all night; but on his ordering them to go away in the morning, they went to the barn, and layed concealed there two days and two nights in which time Mrs. Spooner sustained them with victuals and drink.  That on the Thursday next before the first day of March, . . . she met them at one WIdow Walker's, in Worcester, where, although she was a stranger to the house, she tarried with them the greater part of that and the two following days--was often alone with them, treated them very familiarly, and suffered them to use great familiarities with her, to the astonishment of Walker's family, who knew her rank in life.  On Saturday, when she went away from Walker's, some words passed between her and Buhannon, at parting, which leaves no doubt of their having agreed to meet at Brookfield, the next day, to effect the death of Mr. Spooner.


While she was absent Saturday, Ross came to the house, and concealed himself till evening, when he looked through a window, and spoke to one Widow Stratten, who was ironing in the kitchen, and told her that he was exceeding cold, but could not come in because he wanted to conceal himself from Mr. Spooner, whose horse he had borrowed to go to Ipswich, to see his father, and which he had abused.  This woman concealed him in the buttery untill Mrs. Spooner came home, who was received pleasantly by her husband:  She concealed Ross all the next day, being the Sabbath, on the evening whereof, the deceased went out, and spent an hour or two with one of his neighbours, as he usually did; while he was gone, Buhannon and Brooks came to his house, and,after a great deal of conversation on the killing Mr. Spooner, she stimulated them to the murder, sometimes by promises of reward, and at others by upbraiding of cowardice, until it was agreed that the three men should stand sentry by turns, to watch his returning to his own house.


About nine o'clock he left his company, in a cheerful humour, and great calmness of mind, without the least suspicion of the villainy.  As he came near his own door, Brooks met him and knocked him down, he asked what was the matter, and cried murder (as appears by the examination of Brooks before the Justices) but they all three fell upon and presently dispatched him with repeated blows, and unparalelled cruelty and then threw him into the well.  After this they came into the house to Mrs. Spooner, with the cloaths of Brooks wet with the blood of her Innocent husband.  She went up to his bed chamber to get his money to pay Brooks, according to her promise, and to distribute his wealth amongst his murderers; but while she was there, she told the Widow Stratten, who was in the kitchen when the murder was done (and whose conscience must ___ [illegible] whether she was, before, privy to this hellish design against the life of a man who _____ ___ ___) that she hoped Mr. Spooner was in heaven, and seemed much affected.  She, however, came down, brought the money, and distributed it amongst the ruffians.  She then sent a Scotch servant, whom she had often invited to kill her husband, to the well to get water to wash the bloody cloaths; he, knwoing of the murder, was afraid to go alone, and Stratten went with him:  but, when he put the bucket down into the well, he felt his master, dropped the pole and they both ran into the house, where Stratten took down the bible, went to reading, and cried.  They tehn agreed to burn the bloody cloahes; Ross gave Brook his breeches and put on Spooner's.  She gave Brooks 200 dollars, the watch and buckles,; and the three murderers set off in the dead of the night, for Worcester, with Mr. Spooner's horse and goods.  They were over taken on Monday, and apprehended.  The next morning after the murder, Mrs. Spooner and the Scotch servant went to the well, and saw her husband there, and after some proposals of sinking him, she sent the servant, on horse back, to inquire for him, that she might no be suspected; when the neighbours were collected, they discovered the strongest marks of guilty in the whole family.


She appeared to be  but little affected either on trial or when senteance of death was passed upon her; and it is to be wished, that there may be, in the other convicts, more signs of repentance, before their execution, than has yet been observed in her."


#556 CJNH, 6/10/1778 (W):  3:2 dtl New Haven:  "The Murderers of Mr. Joshua Spooner, who were to have been executed on the 4th instant, are reprieved to the 2d of July next."


#560 CJNH, 7/8/1778 (W):  3:2 dtl New Haven:  EXEC in MA:  "Last Thursday James Buchanon, Ezra Ross, William Brooks, and Bathsheba Spooner, were executed at Worcester."  [[THEIR CONFESSIONS WERE PRINTED IN NEW HAVEN]]  [CC 5/5:  death sentences handed down.  7/7:  executed.]


Independent Chronicle (Boston), 7/9/1778

Census:  

Genealogy:

BS:  daughter of a general (Timothy Ruggles, Esq. -- chief justice of Worcester Co. Court of Common Pleas -- and Bershaba Ruggles) & granddaughter of a minister.

Accused 1:  

William Brooks 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


37

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

James Buchannon 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


30

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; sergeant of the convention troops

Town:


Charlestown

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Ezra Ross 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m
Age:


16

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:

laborer; soldier in the convention troops

Town:


Ipswich

Birthplace:

b. Ipswich

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Bathsheba Spooner 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


32

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. to Joshua for 14 years

Children:




Occupation:

housewife
Town:


Brookfield

Birthplace:

b. Sandwich, MA

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Joshua Spooner 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


69

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Bathsheba for 14 years

Children:




Occupation:

gentleman
Town:


Brookfield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1778, [March] 






Ludlow, HAM

INQ

FILE


Not in SCJ records

Class:   possible

Crime:   SUS / POSS HOM [count]

Rela:    NONDOM 

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  



Day of week:    


Holiday?:



Time of day:   

Days to death:  [0]


HOM: unk. person[s] m. a man known as Sympson


Weapon:  several blows to the head [club]

Circumstances:  victim fell or was thrown into the Chicopee River after the assault


Inquest:  verdict:  murdered by unk. persons


Indictment:  no


Term?:


Court proceedings:
Source: 

Suffolk file 158161  vol. 1166 (inquest)

Suffolk file #: 158161, v. 1166

Date of inquest: May 3, 1778

Coroner or j.p: Elijah Hunt

Town of inquest: Ludlow  Hampshire County  


Location of inquest:        

"A man called Sympson...Sympson was Feloniously Killed & Slain by

Several heavy Strokes upon his Head and Breast & other parts of

his Body By Which he Died and that he either fell or was Thrown

into Chicopee River Some Where Above Case[?] Millers Fordway in

Ludlow.  That the Body floated Down the stream & lodged in the

boughs of a Tree a Little below the said fordway where it was

first found that the Body appeared to have been Dead Several

Months, but in what manner with with what Instrument & what Time

& by whom the man was killd or came to his Death is unknown"

Newspaper:

Census:

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:  



Race:       




Gender:    




Age: 

Literate:




Marital Status:        

Children: 

Occupation: 

Town: 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Sympson

Ethnicity:

[English]
Race:     

[w]

Gender:    

m

Age: 


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:      


Children: 




Occupation:   



Town:   




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1778, June 16




Barnstable, BRI

CT

FILE

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   prob CAS GUN

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Lot Thomas m. Timothy Blish [Blush]


Weapon:  musket loaded with 50 shot, hit TB in the back part of his head, d. inst.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1779:  Barnstable (B & D)  


Court proceedings:  Lot Thomas of Barnstable (infant, under age 21) 6/16/1778 at Barnstable a. Timothy Blish -- malice before thought -- musket loaded with 50 shot, hit TB in the back part of his head, d. inst.  pNG.  fG of MANSL.  benefit of clergy, burned in hand, forfeit his goods.

Source:  

Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  124-5.  


Suffolk file 144370   vol. 962

“Barnstable  ss”   “At the Superiour Court of  Judicature...Barnstable...fourth Tuesday of August 1779”

“The Jurors...Lot Thomas of Barnstable...an Infant under the Age of twenty one years...on the sixteenth day of June in...[1778] at Barnstable...with force and arms in and upon one Timothy Blish...feloniously willfully and of his malice before thought, did make an assault...a certain Musket of the value of ten shillings, then and there charged with Gunpowder and fifty Leaden Shot...with both his hands then and there held and had against and upon the said Timothy Blish...did Shoot and discharge....in and upon the head of him the said Timothy Blish...did strike penetrate and wound giving to the said Timothy Blish...on the back part of his head one mortal wound of the depth of four inches and of the breadth of half a inch, of which said mortal wound, the aforesaid Timothy Blish then and there instantly died...And So the Jurors...Lot Thomas then and there in manner and form beforesaid the said Timothy Blish feloniously willfully and of his malice before thought did kill and murder”

“Barnstable ss August 25th 1779”    “Lot Thomas is set to the Bar and arraigned...he saith that thereof he is not guilty”

[back]

“The Jury say not guilty of Murder but guilty of Manslaughter”

“Sentence is that he be burned in the Hand, foreit his goods & Chattels and be delivered”

Newspaper:

BGAZ 6/22/1778:  CAS GUN in MA:  Barnstable, last week, a lad taking hold of a gun, not knowing it was charged, snapped it at a child (2) of Mr. Blush, which was in the arms of another child (6).  Went off.  Killed the youngest child inst., much wounded the other.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Lot Thomas

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
"infant" [>15 & <21] 

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Barnstable 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Timothy Blish

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


2

Literate:

n

Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1779, Apr. 11




Townsend, MID

CT

FILE

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Levi Whitney m. Rebecah Whitney (his wife)


Weapon:  mingled a great quantity of white arsenic with egg & wine, malice aforethought, d. evening of 4/11.  


Circumstances:  [home v & a]

Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  11/1779:  Cambridge 


Court proceedings:  Levi Whitney of Townsend (gent) on the morning of 4/11/1779 at Townsend a. Rebecah Whitney (his wife) & mingled a great quantity of white arsenic with egg & wine, malice aforethought, d. evening of 4/11.  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  136.  


Suffolk file 148354   vol. 1022

“Middlesex ss”   “At the Superior Court...at Cambridge...on the fourth Tuesday of November in the year of our Lord Seventeen hundred and Seventy nine”

“The Jurors...Levi Whitney of Townsend...Contriving with poison to kill and murder Rebecca Whitney his Wife then at said Town, and did with force and Arms feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought mix and mingle a great quantity of white Arsenick, being a deadly Poison in a certain quantity of Egg and wine, the said Levi Whitney knowing said Arsenick to be a deadly poison, and that the said Levi Whitney there afterward, vistd[?] on the same day the poison aforsaid so mixed and mingled as aforesaid with force and arms feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did offer and give to her the said Rebecca Whitney to take drink and swallow down and that the said Rebecca Whitney not knowing the poison aforsaid to have been mixed and mingled as aforsaid in the Egg and Wine aforesaid there afterward, vict[?] and the same day by the procurement and persuasion of the said Levi Whitney did take drink and swallow down the poison so mixed and mingled as aforsaid, and thereupon the said Rebecca Whitney by the poison so as aforsaid taken drank and swallowed down then and there became sick and distempered in her body, and that the said Rebecca Whitney of the poison aforsaid and of the distemper and discharge thereby occasioned did languish and languishing did live from the morning of the same Eleventh day of April until the Evening of the same day on which same Eleventh day of April in the Evening thereof at Townsend aforsaid...the said Rebecca Whitney died of the poison aforsaid, and of the sickness and distemper thereby occasioned as aforsaid, and so the Jurors...that the said Levi Whitney, the said Rebecca Whitney in manner and form aforsaid feloniously willfully and of his malice aforethought did poison kill and murder...”

“Middlesex ss.  Levi Whitney is arraigned upon this Indictment, and being demanded how he will acquit himself thereof, he saith that thereof he is not guilty, and thereof for trial puts himself upon God”

Source:  Nathl P. Sargent Court Minutes, Sargent Family Papers, at Pea Essex, Box II, folder 3, 

Cambridge Sup. Court, November 1779: 

- Indictment of Levi Whitney for murdering his wife Rebecca Whitney by poison the 4th of April 1779 using arsenic administered in a glass of wine, pNG.  The Judge summarize much testimony here, no verdict listed  [no insanity defense]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Levi Whitney

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Rebecah

Children:




Occupation:

gentleman

Town:


Townsend 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Rebecah Whitney 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Levi

Children:




Occupation:

housewife
Town:


Townsend

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1779, May 3




Boston, SUF

CT

FILE


NOTE:  indictment for premeditated murder, so counted

Class:   probable

Crime:   poss. CAS GUN / prob. HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  11


HOM:  Richard Cochran m. Mark Fernald


Weapon:  with musket loaded with one lead bullet.  To left breast below collar bone.  d. 5/14.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1779:  Boston 


Court proceedings:  Richard Cochran of Boston (mariner) 5/3/1779 at Boston a. Mark Fernald, malice aforethought, with musket loaded with one lead bullet.  To left breast below collar bone.  d. 5/14.  pNG.  fNG.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  108.  

SF 102654, v.611

Superior Court of Judicature

from Indictment:  O...which Muskett he the said Richard Cockran

with both his hands then and there had and held, to against and

upon the said Mark Fernald, then and there feloniously willfully

and of his malice aforethought, did shoot and discharge ... in and upon the breast of him the said Mark Fernald a little below the left collar bone ... giving to the said Mark Fernald, then and there with the leaden bullett aforesaid, so as aforesaid shot

discharged and sent forth and of the Muskett aforesaid by the said Richard Cockran in and upon the left breast of him the said Mark Fernald one mortal wound of the depth of four Inches and the

breadth of half and inch,  of which said mortal wound the said

Mark Fernald from the said third day of May last past until the

fourteenth day of the said May in the year aforesaid at Boston

aforesaid in the County aforesaid of the said mortal wound died,

and so the Jury aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do say that the said Richard Cockran, the said Mark Fernald in Manner and Form aforesaid, feloniously, willfully and of his malice aforethought

did kill and Murder..."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Richard Cochran 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

mariner 

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Mark Fernald

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1779, June 30




Haverhill, ESS

CT

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  7


HOM:  Daniel Greenleaf (aided and abetted by Joseph Johnson and John White (the "second of that name")) m. George Warner


Weapon:  struck & beat his head agst a door, threw him to the floor.  d. 7/7.  several mortal bruises.  DG made the assault, & JJ & JW aided & abetted.  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, mansl


Term?:  11/1779:  Salem


Court proceedings:  DG:  pNG.  fNG.  "willful and felonious" [but no malice aforethought]

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  120-1.  

Suffolk file 133920vol. 839

Account of Sheriff Michael Farley of Essex County    March 1789

MANSL  “Novr. Term 1779.  Costs vs. Greenleaf, Johnson & White tried for Manslaughter & accquitted”

Suffolk file 132681vol. 824

“Essex ss.At the Superiour Court of Judicature...Salem...third Tuesday of November...

                     [1779] by adjournment to that time by the 


Great and General Court or Assemby”

“The Jurors...Daniel Greenleaf of Haverhill...Blacksmith Joseph Johnson of said Haverhill Physician. And John White of said Haverhill the second of that name Gentleman...on the thirtieth day of June...[1779] with force and arms at Haverhill aforesaid...in and upon one George Warner...feloniously wilfully did make an assault: and that the said Daniel Greenleaf with both his hands feloniously & willfully him the said George Warner then and there did strike and beat and the head of him...against the door did furiously thrust strike and beat...the said Daniel Greenleaf...the said George Warner...did cast and throw giving to him...as well by the thrusting striking and beating the head against the Door ...also by the striking and beating with both the hands of him the said Daniel Greenleaf...several mortal bruises the said George Warner from the said thirtieth day of June in the year aforesaid until the seventh day of July in the same year Haverhill...did languish...on which said seventh day of July...died...and that the aforesaid Joseph Johnson and John White then and there feloniously & willfully were present, aiding, helping, abetting, comforting, assisting, and maintaining the said Daniel Greenleaf, the Felony and homicide aforesaid in manner and form aforesaid to do and committ.  And so the Jurors...Daniel Greenleaf Joseph Johnson and John White the said George Warner then & there in manner and form aforesaid feloniously & willfully did kill”

“Essex ss.  Nov. 1779  Daniel Greenleaf, Joseph Johnson and John White are set to the Bar and arraigned, on this Indictment and being demanded how they will acquit themselves thereof, they severally say that thereof they are not guilty and thereof for trial put themselves upon God and the Country”

[back]

“Indictment

Daniel Greenleaf

Joseph Johnson &

John White

for manslaughter”

“The Jury say that Danl. Greenleaf is not guilty

The Jury say that Joseph Johnson is not guilty

The Jury say that John White is not guilty”

[documentation available; Suffolk file 132631   vol. 824; bill of costs;


writ:   Jacob Morril laborer

 
James Seammon goldsmith


Jonathan Souther saddler

           William Duncan


Samuel Tyler Junr.


all of Haverhill


writ:James Brickett


Nathaniel Saltershell


William Backatter Physician 


all of Haverhill


Heziah Osgood   [-----?]


Thomas Kitteridge of Andover Physician]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Daniel Greenleaf 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

blacksmith 

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Joseph Johnson 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

physician

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

John White (the "second of that name") 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m


Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

gentleman 

Town:


Haverhill

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

George Warner

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1779, Sept. 21




Boston, SUF

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  AFFRAY / FIGHT

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  0


HOM:  several French sailors [assume 5] m. Richard Collingwood


Weapon:  pistol shot to lower back, d. 1 hr


Circumstances:  British sailors, looking for a fight, confronted French sailors.  A general melee with pistols and swords in the market square


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  several sailors jailed

Source:  
Newspaper:

#623 CJNH, 10/6/1779 (W):  3:1 dtl Boston, 9/27:  HOM in MA:  "Monday evening last an unhappy affair happened in this town, which is as follows:  Early in the evening one Richard Collingwood, late a British prisoner, but at the time of his death a sailor belonging to the Continental ship Queen of France, went from his lodging in company with others, armed with clubs, &c. said Richard swearing he would be killed or kill somebody; they went into the market square, where they met, or were met, by a body of armed men, supposed to be Frenchmen, and after changing some words, four pistols or musquets were fired from the latter party, a ball from one of which entered the lowest part of said Richard's back and came out a little below his navel, of which wound he died in about an hour.


Several sailors are now under confinement, who were taken up in consequence of said affair."  BGAZ 9/27.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


transient; resident of Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Richard Collingwood

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

late a British prisoner, but at the time of his death a sailor belonging to the Continental ship Queen of France

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1779, Nov. 9




Salem, ESS

CT

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  2


HOM:  Sargent Daniels m. George Mugford


Weapon:  threw him to ground & kicked & beat him.  several mortal bruises.  d. 11/11.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, mansl, 10/79;  yes, murder, 11/81


Term?:  10/1779:  Taunton; 11/1781:  Salem


Court proceedings:  pNG.  Indictment quashed:  wrong day for the crime.  //  fG.  DEATH.  //  11/81:  sentence respited by Governor John Hancock.  discharged from custody.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  121-2.  

SCJ 1781-2:  127a-b.

Suffolk file 132709vol. 824

“Essex ss.At the Superiour Court of Judicature...Salem...third Tuesday of November...


            [1779] by adjournment to that time by the Great and General Court or Assembly”

“The Jurors...Sargent Daniels of Salem...an Infant...on the ninth day of November...[1779] with force and arms at Salem aforesaid...in and upon one George Muggford...feloniously and willfully did make an assault...with both his hands and feet said George Muggford to and against the Ground then and there...did cast and throw...in and upon the [...illegible] stomach sides and belly of him the said George Muggford...did strike beat and kick giving to the said George Muggford...several mortal bruises, the said George Muggford from the said ninth day of November in the year aforesaid until the Eleventh day of the same November did languish and languishing did live on which said Eleventh day of November...at Salem...died.  And so the Jurors...Sargent Daniels the said George Muggford in manner and form aforesaid feloniously & willfully did kill...”

“Witnesses

Dr. Putnam

Dr. Holyoke

Dr. Osgood

Daniel Maloon

Eunice Maloon

Mary Belmore”

“Essex ss.  Nov. 1779.   Sargent Daniels is set to the Bar and arraigned upon their Indictment and being demanded how he will acquit himself thereof, he saith that thereof he is not guilty, and thereof for trial puts himself upon God & the Country”

“And now upon motion of [Theophilus Parms Esqr. crossed out] the Counsel for the Prisoner that he may retract the above Plea which is granted, and to have this Indictment quashed and the Court seeing that the Offense is alledged in the Indictment to have been committed upon the ninth

 day of Nov 1779 and after the first Tuesday of sd. Month and not having by the Resolve of the general for their sitting at this time any Cognizance of Offenses other than they would have had Cognizance of on sd. first Tuesday of November therefore it is considered by the Court that this Indictment be quashed”

“The Government & People of Massachusetts...”

“To the Sheriff in our County of Essex...”

“We command you that immediately...you take Sargent Daniels of Salem...and him forthwith bring before the Justices of our superiour Court of Judicature...at Salem...to answer to an Indictment for feloniously killing one George Muggford...at Salem this eighteenth Day of November...[1779]”

“Essex ss    November 18th 1779”

“I have Taken the Body of Sargent Daniels within Namd & have him Present Before the Honouabel Justices of the Superiour Court &c.”

“Recognizance


“Essex   Nov. 1779”

        to

June Ipswich 

       1780”

Benjamin Daniels & John Daniels both of Salem Shipwrights recognized Surieties for the Appearance of Sargent Daniels an Infant at Ipswich on the Third Tuesday June next to answer to a charge of a felonious Homicide,     L2000   each”

“Essex ss  June 1780”

“Benjamin Daniels & John Daniels both of Salem Shipwrights recognized as Sureties, for the appearance of Sargent Daniels an Infant at Salem on the first Tuesday of November next to answer to such matter & things as shall be objected against him      L5000 each”

Suffolk file 132735vol. 825

“Essex ss.       Superiour Court of Judicature...Salem...first Tuesday of November...[1780]”

“The Jurors...Sargent Daniels...the said George Muggford in manner and form aforesaid feloniously & willfully did kill...”

“Essex ss.  Nov. 1780   Sargent Daniels is set to the Bar & has this Indictment read to him and being demanded how he will acquit himself thereof he says that thereof he is not guilty & thereof for trial puts himself upon God & the Country”

[back]

“Indmt of Sargent Daniels for Manslaughter”

“The Jury say guilty    Sup. Court Nov. 1780

cont. to Ipswich

form there continued at Salem

Novr. Term 1781”

[documentation available; Suffolk file 132709   vol. 824, bill of costs]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Sargent Daniels 

Ethnicity:

[English]


Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
"infant" [>15 & <21] [18]
Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Salem 

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

George Mugford

Ethnicity:

[English]


Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1779, Nov. 16 




Boston, SUF

INQ

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL / FIGHT

Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night (b/w 10pm & 11pm)

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Anthony Barber (aided and abetted by Joseph Gaskett, John Figonier [aka John Henry], & John Bowen) all of Boston (l) m. John Reynor


Weapon:  AB stabbed him in the right side of the breast with a bayonet, 6" deep, inst.  The others aided & abetted. 


Circumstances:  at a house in the north part of Boston.  in Fleet Street


Inquest:  verdict:  "that it appears that the said Rayner was murdered on the Evening of the sixteenth Inst in Fleet Street near the House occupied by John Bowen in Boston between the hours of Ten and Eleven O Clock ‑ with the Stab of a Bayonet in his Breast by Anthony Barber a Frenchman, and John Bowen, Joseph Gaskell, and John Friganeir, alias Jn Henry, Accessories ‑ & so the Jurors ... do say that the said John Rayner aforesd was murdered..."


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  2/1780:  Boston


Court proceedings:  Counsel:  John Lowell & Benj. Fishborn, Esqs. appted by c ourt.  pNG.  AB & JG:  fG of MANSL.  JF & JB:  fNG.  benefit of clergy, forfeit goods, burnt in hand with T.

Source:  
Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  152-3.  

Suffolk file #:     102679a v.612

Date of inquest:    17 November 1780

Coroner or j.p.:    Ebenezer Dorr, coroner

Town of inquest:    Boston

6:  Suffolk Co., Mass., Coroner:  Adlow Manuscripts, “Inquest Records.”  Bill of Ebenezer Dorr, 1777-80, for inquest on the body of “John Runsey murdered in Steel Street by Bown & others.”  i.d. 11/17/1779.  Adlow Manuscripts (Ms.Adl.C) “Inquest Records and Other Materials Pertaining to the Suffolk County Coroners.”  

Newspaper:

#630 CJNH, 11/24/1779 (W):  2:3 dtl Boston, 11/18:  HOM IN MA:  "Last Tuesday night, in an affray which happened at a house at the north part of this town between a number of sailors, one of them was run through the body with a bayonet, of which would he expired soon after.--A Jury of inquest after examining the body, yesterday, returned their verdict wilful murder.  Several of the party have been taken up and committed to goal."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Anthony Barber

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; sailor

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Joseph Gaskett

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; sailor

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

John Figonier

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; sailor

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

John Bowen 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; sailor

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Reynor

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


[Boston]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1780




Bagaduce [Castine], LIN

[assume LET]

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  British soldiers m. a suspected rebel man (either George Hoch or John Welt)

Weapon:  whip.  Died while receiving 1,000 lashes.


Circumstances:  Leamon:  two residents of Waldoboro, George Hoch and John Welt, “who tried to return home after a stay at Bagaduce received 1,000 lashes each for trying to desert to the rebels; one of the victims died under the lash.”  They were sentenced under British martial law.  //  Sloan refers to GH & JW as “outsiders” who “came to Penobscot because they had heard of English promises of land and money.  Disillusioned upon their arrival, the decided to go back to their original homes bt were caught before they reached rebel territory.  Considered deserters, they were court-martialed and sentenced to receive a thousand lashes.”

Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Leamon, James S. (1993) Revolution Downeast: The War for American Independence in Maine. Amherst: The University of Massachusetts Press, 177.

Sloan, Robert (1971) New Ireland: Loyalists in Eastern Maine during the American Revolution.” Ph.D. dissertation: Michigan State University, 83-4.
Miller, Samuel L. (1910) History of the Town of Waldoboro, Maine. Wiscasset, Maine: 88.  Reported that the survivor lived to age 99.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

British soldier

Town:


transient

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Waldoboro

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1780, Aug. 10




Boston, SUF

CT

FILE

P

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL / ESCAPE from guard ship

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:

n

Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Timothy Lynch (aided and abetted by Duncan McGregor, Michael Hogan, Thomas Man, Robert Watt, Morris Pressingham, Kenneth McPherson, Michael Hayes, John Roih) (and aided and abetted by Patrick Ryan, Edmund Healey, & Emanuel Joseph) m. Thomas Bickford


Weapon:  musket & 1 lead bullet, held by TL, shot in the neck just below the vertebrae, 4" deep, inst.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1780:  Boston 


Court proceedings:  Duncan McGregor, Timothy Lynch, Michael Hogan, Thomas Man, Robert Watt, Morris Pressingham, Kenneth McPherson, Michael Hayes, John Roih (laborers of Boston) malice aforethoughtl  The others present, aiding, & abetting.  Make a plea against the Jurisdiction of the Court, claiming they are British citizens:  denied.  pNG.  All fNG.  And Patrick Ryan, Edmund Healey, & Emanuel Joseph, prisoners of war confined in goal on suspicion of being concerned in the case, and no bill being found, discharged.  //  plea of NG ‑‑ accused state that at time offence was supposed to have been committed they were prisoners of war and that they should be tried by the Courts Martial.

Source:  
6:  Suffolk Co., Mass., Coroner:  Adlow Manuscripts, “Inquest Records.”  Bill of Ebenezer Dorr, 1777-80, for inquest on the body of “Thomas Bickford killed in a Boat by the guardship.”  i.d. 8/11/1780.  Adlow Manuscripts (Ms.Adl.C) “Inquest Records and Other Materials Pertaining to the Suffolk County Coroners.”  Mass. SCJ Records, v. 1778-80:  210.  

SF#102707, v.613

Superior Judicial Court

from Indictment:  "feloniously willfully and of their malice

forethought, did make an assault, and that the said Timothy Lynch

a certain muskett ... with both his hands then and there has and

held to against and upon the said Thomas Bickford then and there

feloniously willfully and of his malice forethought did shoot and

discharge ... in and upon the neck of him the said Thomas Bickford just below the vertebra, then and there with the leaden bullet ... did strike and penetrate and wound giving to the said Thomas Bickford ... one mortal wound of the depth of four inches and breadth of half and Inch, of which said mortal wound the aforesaid Thomas Bickford then and there instantly died.  And that the aforesaid Ducan McGregor, Michael Hogan, Thomas Man, Robert Watt, Morris Pressingham, Kenneth McPherson, Michael Hayes, John Rotch then and there feloniously willfully and of their malice forethought were present aiding abbetting comforting assisting & maintaining the said Timothy Lunch the felony & murder aforesaid in manner & form aforesaid to do & commit and so the Jurors ... do say that the said Ducan McGregor, Timothy Lynch, Michael Hogan, Thomas Man, Robert Watt, Morris Pressingham, Kenneth McPherson, Michael Hayes, John Rotch the said Thomas Bickford then & there in manner and form aforesaid, feloniously willfully and of their malice forethought did kill and murder..."

Source:  Nathl P. Sargent Court Minutes, Sargent Family Papers, at Pea Ess, Box I, folder 11

at Boston Aug. 1780 SJC term:

- Indictment of Duncan McGregore et al. for killing on 8/10 inst Tho Bickford with malece aforeth.  here, Sargent lists legal citns, summarizes the testimony

Newspaper:

BGAZ 8/14/1780 (M):  "a Number of Prisoners on board the Guard Ship mutinied, seized and disarmed the Guard, consisting of eight Men, cut the Cable, and she drove ashore near Errcmere's Point, leading up Cambridge River.  On the Alarm being given, the Town Major (John Rice, jun Esq.) attempting to go on board with an additional Guard to quell the Mutiny, was fired on from the Guard Ship, when the Serjeant, Thomas Bickford, was killed; on which, the Major coming to the Shore, and informing of what had happened, it being very Foggy, the Town was alarmed when a Number of Boats went off to his Assistance, and quell'd the Munity.  After, which, 21 of the Prisoners were bro't on Shore, and committed to Prison.--A Jury of Inquest being summoned to sit on the Body of the deceased, after about fourty-four Hours Examination of the Prisoners separately, found from their own Confessions, eleven Principals and Accomplices, accessory to the Murder, who are now in Goal, waiting for Trial."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Timothy Lynch 

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war; royal soldier
Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Duncan McGregor

Ethnicity:

[Scot]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Michael Hogan

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Thomas Man

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 5:  

Robert Watt

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 6:  

Morris Pressingham

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 7:  

Kenneth McPherson

Ethnicity:

[Scot]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 8:  

Michael Hayes

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 9:  

John Roih

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 10:  

Patrick Ryan

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 11:  

Edmund Healey

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 12:  

Emanuel Joseph

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer; prisoner of war

Town:


Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Thomas Bickford

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

guard, continental soldier
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

sergeant in the militia

1780, Aug.




Waldoboro, LIN

P

HIST
LET

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM REBEL by TORIES

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Stephen Pendleton (aided and abetted by other Loyalists – assume 4) m. Captain Levi Soule (and aik or mutilation of his wife)

Weapon:  gun [musket]

Circumstances:  loyalists tried to kidnap LS at his farm on Broad Cove.  Tied him up and left him in the custody of Pendleton while they plundered LS’s farm.  LS asked to see his wife (who was ill) before they took him away.  LS ordered his wife to untie him so he could escape, and when she began to do so Pendleton shot him dead and wounded or deliberately mutilated his wife when she came to help him.  The Patriot militia, acting under martial law, executed a suspected Tory spy, Jeremiah Baum (a feeble minded man), partly to retaliate for the killing of LS.  NOTE:  Miller & Eaton accounts vary somewhat.

Inquest:  


Indictment?  no

Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Source:  
Leamon, James S. (1993) Revolution Downeast: The War for American Independence in Maine. Amherst: The University of Massachusetts Press, 126-7.  Contains the following references:
Sloan, Robert (1971) New Ireland: Loyalists in Eastern Maine during the American Revolution.” Ph.D. dissertation: Michigan State University, 102, 105.

Hunt, Richard I., Jr. (1973) The Loyalists of Maine. Ph.D. dissertation: University of Maine at Orono, 227-30.

Peleg Wadsworth to the Council, Falmouth, April 28, 1780, Documentary History of Maine, 18: 241

Eaton, Cyrus (1865) History of Thomaston, Rockland, and South Thomaston, Maine, from Their First Exploration, A.D. 1605, with Family Genealogies, 2 v. Hallowell, Maine: Masters, Smith, v. 1: 139.
Eaton, Cyrus (1851) Annals of the Town of Warren. Hallowell: 183-4.

Miller, History of Waldoboro: 88-9.

Newspaper:

BGAZ 9/4/1780 (M):  "We hear that about a fortnight ago, Mr Sole of Waldoboro' was killed by a party of Tories, who immediately made off."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Leonard Soule

Ethnicity:

[French]
Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:
m
Children:




Occupation:

farmer
Town:


[Waldoboro]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

Captain in Patriot militia
1780, Dec. 28




Boston, SUF

CT

FILE

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  FIGHT / MELEE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Philip Eliot, Philip [Peter] Boudin, Matthurin Simmeneau, Francis Cortier, Lewis Dessuages, Francis Gallopee, Colly Dennis m. James Bossan [Bass]


Weapon:  stabbed with a knife through the body ["pit of the stomach"].  d. soon after.


Circumstances:  an affray happened at a house on Minto's T. between a number of French and American sailors


Inquest:  verdict:  7 Frenchmen were accessory to the death


Indictment?  murder, malice aforethought


Term?:  2/1781t:  Boston


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG

Source:  
SCJ 1781-2:  8a-9a:  2/1781t Boston

SF 102732 v.613

Superior Judicial Court from Indictment: "the said Lewis Dessauges with a certain knife of the value of six pence which he the said Lewis Dessauges in his right hand then and there had and held, the said James Boss in the Pitt of the Stomach... then and there wilfully feloniously and of his malice aforethought a did strike thrust & stab, giving to the said James Boss... one mortal wound of the breadth of one Inch and depth of six Inches  of which... Boss... instantly died. And that the said Philip Eliot, Philip Boudin, Matthurin Simmeneau, Francis Cortier, Francis Gallopee and Colly Dennis  did then and there feloniously wilfully and with their malice aforethought were present, aiding, helping, abetting, ccomforting, assisting and maintaining the said Lewis Dessuage ... and so the Jury ... do say ... that the said Philip Eliot, Philip Boudin, Matthurin Simmeneau, Francis Cortier, Lewis Dessauges, Francis Gallopee, Colly Dennis the said James Boss ... did kill and murder..."

Newspaper:

#689 CJNH, 1/11/1781 (Th):  3:1-2 dtl Boston, 1/4:  HOM in MA:  "Last Thursday morning an affray happened at a house on Minto's T. between a number of French and American sailors, in which a young lad belonging to the Alliance frigate was stabbed thro' the body, of which would he immediately expired; several others were also badly wounded.--A jury of Inquest being summoned to sit on the body of the deceased, brought in their verdict, 'That 7 Frenchmen were accessary to the death of the deceased."

Census:  

Genealogy:  
Accused 1:  

Philip Eliot

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Philip Boudin

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Matthurin Simmeneau

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Francis Cortier 

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 5:  

Lewis Dessauges

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 6:  

Francis Gallopee

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 7:  

Colly Dennis 

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sailor

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

James Bossan

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
"young lad"

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

continental sailor; belonged to an Alliance frigate

Town:


resident in Boston

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s








